

REVENUE BY-LAWS 2023/24

Table of Contents

PART I: GENERAL	3
SECTION 1: OBJECTIVE OF BY-LAWS	3
SECTION 2: DEFINITIONS	
PART II: TARIFFS	6
SECTION 3: OBJECTIVE	6
SECTION 4: GENERAL PRINCIPLES	6
SECTION 5: CALCULATION OF TARIFFS FOR MAJOR SERVICES	7
SECTION 6: STRUCTURE OF TARIFFS	8
SECTION 7: ELECTRICITY	
SECTION 8: REFUSE REMOVAL	
SECTION 9: MINOR TARIFFS	9
PART III: CREDIT CONTROL AND DEBT COLLECTION	10
SECTION 17: OBJECTIVE CONSTITUTIONAL OBLIGATIONS	10
SECTION 18: NOTICE OF DEFAULT AND INTENDED TERMINATION OR RESTRICTION OF SERVICES	10
SECTION 19: RECONNECTION OR REINSTATEMENT OF TERMINATED OR RESTRICTED SERVICES	10
SECTION 20: PERIODS FOR RECONNECTIONS OR REINSTATEMENTS	11
SECTION 21: ILLEGAL RECONNECTIONS	11
SECTION 22: RESTRICTION OF SERVICES	11
SECTION 23: SERVICES NOT RECONNECTED OR REINSTATED AFTER FOUR WEEKS	12
SECTION 24: ARRANGEMENTS FOR PAYMENT OF ARREAR ACCOUNTS	12
SECTION 25: SERVICE CONTRACT	13
SECTION 26: PAYMENT OF DEPOSITS	13
SECTION 27: ALLOCATION OF PART-PAYMENTS AND APPROPRIATION OF DEPOSITS	
SECTION 28: QUERIES BY ACCOUNTHOLDERS	
SECTION 29: INABILITY TO READ METERS	
SECTION 30: INTEREST ON ARREARS AND OTHER PENALTY CHARGES	
SECTION 31: INDIGENCY MANAGEMENT	
PART IV: INDIGENCY MANAGEMENT	16
SECTION 33: OBJECTIVE	16
SECTION 34: WHO QUALIFIES FOR INDIGENT SUPPORT	16
SECTION 35: APPLICATION OF THE POLICY	
SECTION 36: NON-COMPLIANCE OF HOUSEHOLDS REGISTERED AS INDIGENT	17
(a) Objective	
(b) Unauthorized use of property of the Council	
(c) Municipality's right of access to premises	
(d) Power to restrict or terminate supply of services	
(e) Illegal reconnections and/or tampering	
f) Visiting Indigent Households	19
PART V: APPLICATION, IMPLEMENTATION AND REVIEW OF THE BY-LAW	19
PART VI: COMPETENCE AND CAPABILITY TO IMPLEMENT THE BY-LAW	19

PART I: GENERAL

SECTION 1: OBJECTIVE OF BY-LAWS

- (a) These by-laws are formulated and gazetted to give proper effect to the local municipality's policies on:
 - (i) Tariffs;
 - (ii) Credit Control and Debt Collection; and
 - (iii) Indigency Management.
- (b) These by-laws must be read in conjunction with the policies referred to, and within the applicable provisions of the following legislation:
 - (i) Local Government: Municipal Systems Act No. 32 of 2000; and
 - (ii) Local Government: Municipal Finance Management Act No. 56 of 2003
- (c) The relevant sections of the legislation referred to above are appended to:
 - (i) Tariffs policy;
 - (ii) Credit Control and Debt Collection policy; and
 - (iii) Indigent Policy
- (d) Copies of these policies, with the relevant annexures setting out the legal requirements and legal framework within which the by-laws must operate, appear on the municipality's website (address provided) and are available free of charge on application to the Office of the Municipal Manager (address provided).

SECTION 2: DEFINITIONS

"Annual budget" shall mean the budget approved by the municipal council for any particular financial year, and shall include any adjustments to such budget.

"Basic municipal services" shall mean a municipal service necessary to ensure an acceptable and reasonable quality of life, which service – if not provided – would endanger public health or safety or the environment.

"By-law" shall mean legislation passed by the council of the municipality, and which shall be binding on the municipality and on the persons and institutions to which it applies.

"Consumer price index" shall mean the CPIX as determined and gazetted from time to time by the South Africa Bureau of Statistics. "Councillor" shall mean a member of the council of the municipality.

"Domestic consumer or user" of municipal services shall mean the person or household which municipal services are rendered in respect of "residential property" as defined below.

"day" means when any number of days are prescribed for the performance of any act, those days must be reckoned by excluding the first and including the last day, unless the last day falls on a Saturday, Sunday or any public holiday, in which case the number of days must be reckoned by excluding the first day and also any such Saturday, Sunday or public holiday;

"effective date"-

- (a) in relation to a valuation roll, means the date on which the valuation roll takes effect in terms of section 32(1) of the Act; or
- (b) in relation to a supplementary valuation roll, means the date on which a supplementary valuation roll takes effect in terms of section 78(2)(b) of the Act;

"Financial year" shall mean the period starting from 1 July in any year and ending on 30 June on the following year.

"land tenure right", means a landtenure right as defined in section 1 of the Upgrading of Land Tenure Rights Act,1991(Act No. 112 of 1991):

"Local community" or "community", in relation to the municipality, shall mean that body of persons comprising the residents of the municipality, the ratepayers of the municipality, any civic organisations and non-governmental, private sector or labour organisations or bodies involved in local affairs within the municipality, and visitors and other people residing outside the municipality who, because of their presence in the municipality, make use of services or facilities provided by the municipality.

"Month" means one of twelve months of a calendar year.

"Municipality" or "municipal area" shall, where appropriate, mean the geographic area, determined in terms of the Local Government: Municipal Demarcation Act No. 27 of 1998 as the municipal area pertaining to the municipality.

"Municipal council" or "council" shall mean the municipal council as referred to in Section 157(1) of the Constitution.

"Municipal entity" shall mean (a) a company, co-operative, trust, fund or any other corporate entity established in terms of any applicable national or provincial legislation, and which operates under the ownership control of one or more municipalities; or (b) a service utility.

"Municipal manager" shall mean the person appointed in terms of Section 82 of the Municipal Structures Act, 1998.

"Municipal service" has the meaning assigned to it in terms of Section 1 of the Municipal Systems Act.

"Municipal tariff" shall mean a tariff for services which the municipality may set for the provision of a service to the local community, and may include a surcharge on such service. Tariffs for major services shall mean tariffs set for the supply and consumption or usage of electricity and refuse removal, and minor tariffs shall mean all other tariffs, charges, fees, rentals or fines levied or imposed by the municipality in respect of other services supplied including services incidental to the provision of the major services.

"Occupier" in relation to a property, shall mean a person in actual occupation of the property, whether or not that person has a right to occupy the property.

"Owner"

- (a) in relation to a property referred to in paragraph (a) of the definition of "property", shall mean a person in whose name ownership of the property is registered;
- (b) in relation to a right referred to in paragraph (b) of the definition of "property", shall mean a person in whose name the right is registered;
 - (bB) in relating to a share in a share block company, the share block company as defined in the Share Block Control Act, 1980(Act No.59 of 1980);
 - (bC) in relation to buildings, other immovable structures and infrastructure referred to section in 17(1)(f), means the holder of the mining right or the mining permit.
- (c) in relation to a land tenure right referred to in paragraph (c) of the definition of "property", shall mean a person in whose name the right is registered or to whom it was granted in terms of legislation; and
- (d) in relation to public service infrastructure referred to in paragraph (d) of the definition of

"property", shall mean the organ of state which owns or controls that public service infrastructure as envisaged in the definition of "publicly controlled", provided that a person mentioned below may for the purposes of the Property Rates Act 2004 be regarded by the municipality as the owner of a property in the following cases:

- (i) a trustee, in the case of a property in a trust, but excluding state trust land;
- (ii) an executor or administrator, in the case of a property in a deceased estate:
- (iii) a trustee or liquidator, in the case of a property in an insolvent estate or in liquidation;
- (iv) a judicial manager, in the case of a property in the estate of a person under judicial management;
- (v) a curator, in the case of a property in the estate of a person under curatorship;
- (vi) a person in whose name a usufruct or other personal servitude is registered, in the case of a property that is subject to a usufruct or other personal servitude;
- (vii) a lessee, in the case of a property that is registered in the name of the municipality and is leased by it; and
- (viii) a lessee, in the case of property to which a land tenure right applies and which is leased by the holder of such right; or

(ix) a buyer, in the case of a property sold by the municipality and of which possession was given to the buyer pending registration of ownership in the name of such buyer.

"Person" shall include an organ of state, and an "organ of state" shall mean an organ of state as defined in Section 239 of the Constitution.

"Property" shall mean (a) immovable property registered in the name of a person, including in the case of a sectional title scheme a sectional title unit registered in the name of a person; (b) a right registered against immovable property in the name of the person, but excluding a mortgage bond registered against the property; (c) a land tenure right registered in the name of a person or granted to a person in terms of legislation; and (d) public service infrastructure.

"Public service infrastructure" shall mean publicly controlled infrastructure of the following kinds:

- (a) national, provincial or other public roads on which goods, services or labour move across a municipal boundary;
- power stations, power sub-stations or power lines forming part of an electricity scheme serving the public;
- gas or liquid fuel plants or refineries or pipelines for gas or liquid fuel forming part of the scheme for transporting such fuels;
- railway lines forming part of a national railway system;
- communication towers, masts, exchanges and lines forming part of a communication system serving the public (e)
- runways, aprons and the air traffic control unit at national or provincial airports, including the vacant land known as the obstacle free zone surrounding these, which must be vacant for air navigation purposes;
- any other publicly controlled infrastructure as may be prescribed; and
- rights of way, easements or servitudes in connection with infrastructure mentioned in paragraphs (a) to (i).

"Publicly controlled" shall mean owned by or otherwise under the control of an organ of state, including a public entity listed in the Public Finance Management Act No. 1 of 1999, a municipality, or a municipal entity. "Rate" shall mean a municipal rate on property as envisaged in Section 229(1)(a) of the Constitution.

"Ratepayer" shall mean a person who is liable to the municipality for the payment of (a) rates on property in the municipality; (b) any other tax, duty or levy imposed by the municipality; and/or (c) fees for services provided either by the municipality or in terms of a service delivery agreement.

"Rebate" in relation to a rate payable on a property, shall mean a discount granted in terms of Section 15 of the Property Rates Act 2004 on the amount of the rate payable on the property.

"Residential property" shall mean a property included in the valuation roll in terms of Section 48(2)(b) of the Property Rates Act 2004

"State trust land" shall mean land owned by the state and held in trust for persons communally inhabiting the land in terms of a traditional system of land tenure; over which land tenure rights have been registered or granted; or which is earmarked for disposal in terms of the Restitution of Land Rights Act No. 22 of 1994.

PART II: TARIFFS

SECTION 3: OBJECTIVE

In setting its annual tariffs the council shall at all times take due cognisance of the tariffs applicable elsewhere in the economic region, and of the impact which its own tariffs may have on local economic development.

SECTION 4: GENERAL PRINCIPLES

- (a) Service tariffs imposed by the local municipality shall be viewed as user charges and shall not be viewed as taxes, and therefore the ability of the relevant consumer or user of the services to which such tariffs relate, shall not be considered as a relevant criterion (except in the case of the indigence relief measures approved by the municipality from time to time).
- (b) The municipality shall ensure that its tariffs are uniformly and fairly applied throughout the municipal region.
- (c) Tariffs for the two major services rendered by the municipality, namely:
 - (i) electricity
 - (ii) refuse removal (solids waste),
 - shall as far as possible recover the expenses associated with the rendering of each service concerned, and where feasible generate a modest surplus as determined in each annual budget. Such surplus shall be applied for the future capital expansion of the service concerned, or both.
- (d) The tariff which a particular consumer or user pays shall therefore be directly related to the standard of service received and the quantity of the particular service used or consumed.
- (e) The municipality shall develop, approve and at least annually review an indigency support programme for the municipal area. This programme shall set out clearly the municipality's cost recovery policy in respect of the tariffs which it levies on registered indigents, and the implications of such policy for the tariffs which it imposes on other users and consumers in the municipal region.
- (f) In line with the principles embodied in the Constitution and in other legislation pertaining to local government, the municipality may differentiate between different categories of users and consumers in regard to the tariffs which it levies. Such differentiation shall, however, at all times be reasonable, and shall be fully disclosed in each annual budget.
- (g) The municipality's tariff policy shall be transparent, and the extent to which there is crosssubsidisation between categories of consumers or users shall be evident to all consumers or users of the service in question.
- (h) The municipality further undertakes to ensure that its tariffs shall be easily explainable and understood by all consumers and users affected by the tariff policy concerned.
- (i) The municipality also undertakes to render its services cost effectively in order to ensure the best possible cost of service delivery.
- (j) In the case of directly measurable services, namely electricity, the consumption of such services shall be properly metered by the municipality, and meters shall be read, wherever circumstances reasonably permit, on a monthly basis. The charges levied on consumers shall be proportionate to the quantity of the service which they consume.

- (k) In addition, the municipality shall levy monthly availability charges for the services concerned, and these charges shall be fixed for each type of property as determined in accordance with its appropriate policies. Generally, consumers of electricity shall therefore pay two charges: one, relatively minor, which is unrelated to the volume of consumption and is levied because of the availability of the service concerned; and another directly related to the consumption of the service in question.
- (I) In considering the costing of its electricity and services, the municipality shall take due cognisance of the high capital cost of establishing and expanding such services, and of the resultant high fixed costs, as opposed to variable costs of operating these services.
 - (i) In adopting what is fundamentally a two-part tariff structure, namely a fixed availability charge coupled with a charge based on consumption, the municipality believes that it is properly attending to the demands which both future expansion and variable demand cycles and other fluctuations will make on service delivery.
- (m) The municipality's tariffs for electricity services will be determined to ensure that those consumers who are mainly responsible for peak demand, and therefore for the incurring by the municipality of the associated demand charges from Eskom, will have to bear the costs associated with these charges. To this end the municipality shall therefore install demand meters to measure the maximum demand of such consumers during certain periods. Such consumers shall therefore pay the relevant demand charge as well as a service charge directly related to their actual consumption of electricity during the relevant metering period.

SECTION 5: CALCULATION OF TARIFFS FOR MAJOR SERVICES

In order to determine the tariffs which must be charged for the supply of the four major services, the municipality shall identify all the costs of operation of the undertakings concerned, including specifically the following:

- (a) Cost of bulk purchases in the case of electricity.
- (b) Distribution costs.
- (c) Electricity distribution losses.
- (d) Depreciation expenses.
- (e) Maintenance of infrastructure and other fixed assets.
- (f) Administration and service costs, including:
 - (i) service charges levied by other departments such as finance, human resources and legal services;
 - (ii) reasonable general overheads, such as the costs associated with the office of the municipal manager;
 - (iii) adequate contributions to the provisions for bad debts and obsolescence of stock;
 - (iv) all other ordinary operating expenses associated with the service concerned including, in the case of the electricity service, the cost of providing street lighting in the municipal area (note: the costs of the democratic process in the municipality that is, all expenses associated with the political structures of the municipality shall form part of the expenses to be financed from general revenues, and shall not be included in the costing of the major services of the municipality).
- (g) The intended surplus to be generated for the financial year, such surplus to be applied:
 - (i) as an appropriation to capital reserves; and/or
 - (ii) generally in relief of rates and general services.
- (h) The cost of approved indigency relief measures.

SECTION 6: STRUCTURE OF TARIFFS

(a) The municipality shall provide the first 50kWh of electricity per month free of charge to consumers who have registered as indigents in terms of the municipality's indigency relief programme. The municipality shall further consider relief in respect of the tariffs for refuse removal for such registered indigents to the extent that the council deems such relief affordable in terms of each annual budget, but on the understanding that such relief shall not be less than a discount of 50% on the monthly amount billed for the service concerned.

SECTION 7: ELECTRICITY

- (a) The various categories of electricity consumers, as set out in sub-section (c) below, shall be charged at the applicable tariffs, as approved by the council in each annual budget.
- (b) Tariff adjustments shall be effective from 1 July each year or as soon as possible thereafter.
- (c) Categories of consumption and charges shall be as follows:
 - (i) With the single exception of registered indigents, all electricity consumers shall be billed for their electricity consumption at the tariff applicable to the category in which the particular consumer falls
 - (ii) All domestic electricity consumers of the municipality who are registered as indigents with the municipality shall receive free the first 50kWh (fifty) of electricity consumed per month.
 - (iii) All commercial, industrial and other non-domestic properties shall additionally be billed a monthly basic charge per meter installed and, where applicable, a demand charge appropriate to their respective levels of consumption.
 - (iv) A basic (availability) charge per month shall be charged for undeveloped erven, irrespective of their permitted or intended use.

SECTION 8: REFUSE REMOVAL

- (a) The categories of refuse removal users as set out in sub-section (c) below shall be charged at the applicable tariffs, as approved by the council in each annual budget.
- (b) Tariff adjustments shall be effective from 1 July each year.
- (c) A separate fixed monthly refuse removal charge shall apply to each of the following categories of users, based on the costs of the service concerned:
 - (i) Domestic and other users (once weekly removal)
 - (ii) Business and other users (twice weekly removal)
 - (iii) Business and other (bulk consumers).
 - (iv) Domestic and other users (fortnight removal)
- (d) Registered indigents may receive such discount on this charge as the council deems affordable when approving each annual budget, but on the understanding that such discount shall not be less than 40% of the monthly amount billed as a refuse removal charge.

SECTION 9: MINOR TARIFFS

- (a) All minor tariffs shall be standardised within the municipal region.
- (b) All minor tariffs shall be approved by the council in each annual budget, and shall, when deemed appropriate by the council, be subsidised by general revenues, particularly when the tariffs will prove uneconomical when charged to cover the cost of the service concerned, or when the cost cannot accurately be determined, or when the tariff is designed purely to regulate rather than finance the use of the particular service or amenity.
- (c) All minor tariffs over which the municipality has full control, and which are not directly related to the cost of a particular service, shall annually be adjusted at least in line with the prevailing consumer price index, unless there are compelling reasons why such adjustment should not be effected.
- (d) The following services shall be considered as community services, and no tariffs shall be levied for their use:
 - (i) municipal museum and art gallery
 - (ii) disposal of garden refuse at the municipal tip site
 - (iii) municipal lending library (except for fines set out below)
 - (iv) municipal botanical garden, and all other parks (excluding caravan parks) and open spaces.
- (e) The following services shall be considered as economic services, and the tariffs levied shall cover 100% of the budgeted annual operating expenses of the service concerned:
 - (i) maintenance of graves and garden of remembrance (cremations)
 - (ii) housing rentals
 - (iii) rentals for the use of municipal halls and other premises (subject to the proviso set out below)
 - (iv) building plan fees
 - (v) cleaning of stands
 - (vi) electricity new connection fees
 - (vii) Photostat copies and fees
 - (viii) clearance certificates.
- (f) The following charges and tariffs shall be considered as regulatory or punitive, and shall be determined as appropriate in each annual budget:
 - (i) fines for loss or overdue library books
 - (ii) advertising sign fees
 - (iii) electricity disconnection and reconnection fees
 - (iv) penalty and other charges imposed in terms of the approved policy on credit control and debt collection.
- (g) Market-related rentals shall be levied for the lease of municipal properties.
- (h) In the case of rentals for the use of municipal halls and premises, if the municipal manager is satisfied that the halls or premises are required for non-profit making purposes <u>and</u> for the provision of a service to the community, the municipal manager may waive 50% of the applicable rental.
- (i) The municipal manager shall determine whether an indemnity or guarantee must in each instance be lodged for the rental of municipal halls, premises and sports fields, and in so determining shall be guided by the likelihood of the municipality's sustaining damages as a result of the use of the facilities concerned.

PART III: CREDIT CONTROL AND DEBT COLLECTION

SECTION 10: OBJECTIVE CONSTITUTIONAL OBLIGATIONS

The council of the municipality, in adopting this policy on credit control and debt collection, recognises its constitutional obligations to develop the local economy and to provide acceptable services to its residents. It simultaneously acknowledges that it cannot fulfill these constitutional obligations unless it exacts payment for the services which it provides and for the taxes which it legitimately levies – in full from those residents who can afford to pay, and in accordance with its indigency relief measures for those who have registered as indigents in terms of the council's approved indigency management policy.

SECTION 11: NOTICE OF DEFAULT AND INTENDED TERMINATION OR RESTRICTION OF SERVICES

Within 2 (two) calendar days after each monthly due date for payment of municipal accounts for service charges, the municipal manager shall dispatch to every defaulting accountholder, that is, every accountholder who as at the date of the notice has not paid the monthly account in full or has not made an acceptable arrangement with the municipal manager for partial or late payment, a notice stating that unless full payment is received or an acceptable arrangement made with the municipal manager for partial or late payment, the municipal electricity supply such supplies to the property to which the account in arrears relates shall be terminated or restricted 5 (five) working days after the date of the notice concerned.

SECTION 12: RECONNECTION OR REINSTATEMENT OF TERMINATED OR RESTRICTED SERVICES

- (a) Services to defaulting accountholders terminated or restricted in terms of Section 10 above shall be reconnected or reinstated by the municipal manager only when all the following conditions have been met:
 - (i) the arrear account has been paid in full, including the interest raised on such account; or an acceptable arrangement has been made with the municipal manager for the payment of the arrear account, including the interest raised on such account;
 - (ii) the charge(s) for the notice sent in terms of Section 10 above and for the reconnection or reinstatement of the terminated or restricted service(s), as determined by the council from time to time, have been paid in full;
 - (iii) a service contract has been entered into with the municipality, as contemplated in Section 17 below; and
- (iv) a cash deposit has been lodged with the municipal manager in compliance with Section 18

(b) In the case of consumers using prepaid meters, but who have fallen into arrears with the remainder of their obligations to the municipality, no prepaid purchases shall be accepted until the outstanding arrears have been settled or an acceptable arrangement made for the payment of the arrear account, as contemplated above: such arrangement may entail the limitation of the amount of prepaid services which may be purchased until the arrears or a stated percentage of the arrears has been settled.

SECTION 13: PERIODS FOR RECONNECTIONS OR REINSTATEMENTS

(a) The municipal manager shall reconnect or reinstate terminated or restricted services within 3 (three) working days after the date on which the conditions set out in Section 18 above have been met, unless the municipal manager is unable to do so because of circumstances beyond the control of the municipality.

SECTION 14: ILLEGAL RECONNECTIONS

- (a) The municipal manager shall, as soon as it comes to the notice of the municipal manager that any terminated or restricted service has been irregularly reconnected or reinstated, report such action to the South African Police Service, disconnect or restrict such service(s), and not reconnect or reinstate such service(s) until the arrear account, including the interest raised on such account, the charges for the notice sent in terms of Section 10 above and the charges for both the original and subsequent reconnection or reinstatement of the service(s) and the revised deposit have been paid in full, together with such penalty as may be determined by the council from time to time.
- (b) In addition, all metered consumption since the date of the illegal reconnection, or the estimated consumption if a reliable meter reading is not possible, shall also be paid full before any reconnection or reinstatement is considered.

SECTION 15: RESTRICTION OF SERVICES

(a) If the municipal manager is of the opinion that the termination of services, in the case of a particular property in respect of which the account is in arrear, is not in the best interests of the community – specifically because of the potential endangerment of the life of any person, whether resident in or outside the property concerned – the municipal manager may appropriately restrict rather than terminate the services in question.

SECTION 16: SERVICES NOT RECONNECTED OR REINSTATED AFTER FOUR WEEKS

- (a) If services have been terminated or restricted in the case of a property in respect of which the account is in arrear, and the accountholder has not paid such arrears, including the interest raised on such account, or made an acceptable arrangement with the municipal manager for the payment of the arrear account, including the interest raised on such account, within a period of 28 (twenty eight) calendar days after the date of termination or restriction of the service(s) concerned, the municipal manager shall forthwith hand such account over for collection and such further action as is deemed necessary to the municipality's attorneys or any debt collecting agency appointed by the council.
- (b) Such further action shall include if necessary the sale in execution of such property to recover arrear service charges (if the accountholder is also the owner of the property).
- (c) All legal expenses incurred by the municipality shall be for the account of the defaulting accountholder.

SECTION 17: ARRANGEMENTS FOR PAYMENT OF ARREAR ACCOUNTS

- (a) Allowing defaulting account holders to make arrangements for the payment of arrear accounts shall be at the discretion of the municipal manager.
- (b) Each defaulting accountholder must pay an arrear account, according to the council resolution taken from time to time together with the interest raised on such account, and it shall be a condition for the conclusion of any arrangement that the accountholder is bound to pay every current municipal account in full and on time during the period over which such arrangement extends.

Arrangement regarding arrears accounts.

The following are considered reasonable and is the minimum that will be accepted:

- (i) The customer intending to enter into payment arrangement must pay 50% of the consolidated account and amount owing, interest and costs.
- (ii) A once-off arrangement can be entered into by the customer to settle the 120 day and older debt in equal instalments up to twelve (12months) plus the monthly current account
- (c) If an accountholder breaches any material term of an arrangement, the balance of the arrear account, together with the balance of interest raised on such account, shall immediately become due and payable to the municipality, and if the accountholder defaults on such payment, the municipal manager shall terminate or restrict services to the property in question and shall forthwith hand such account over for collection as envisaged in Section 15 above.
- (d) An accountholder who has breached an arrangement as set out above shall not be allowed to make any further arrangements for the payment of arrear accounts, but shall be proceeded against, after the dispatch of the initial notice of default as envisaged in Section 10 above and failure by the accountholder to pay the arrear account, together with interest raised on such arrears as required in terms of such notice, as though such accountholder had breached a material term of an arrangement.

SECTION 18: SERVICE CONTRACT

- (a) A service contract shall henceforth be entered into with the municipality for each property to which the municipality is expected to provide all or any of the following services:
 - (i) Electricity.
 - (ii) Refuse collection.
- (b) Such contract shall set out the conditions on which services are provided and shall require the signatory to note the contents of the municipality's credit control and debt collection policy, a copy of which shall be provided to such signatory, as well as the provision of the Municipal Systems Act in regard to the municipality's right of access to property.
- (c) Where the signatory is not the owner of the property to which the services are to be provided, a properly executed letter from such owner indicating that the signatory is the lawful occupant of the property shall be attached to the service contract.
- (d) Current consumers and users of the municipality's services who have not entered in a service contract as envisaged above, must do so within 2 (two) years from the date on which the bylaws to implement the present policy are published, and failure to do so shall be considered as a default equivalent to non-payment in terms of Section 10 above.

SECTION 19: PAYMENT OF DEPOSITS

(a) Whenever a service contract is entered into in terms of Section 17 above, the signatory shall lodge a cash deposit with the municipality, such deposit will be determined in the annual budget of each financial year.

SECTION 20: ALLOCATION OF PART-PAYMENTS AND APPROPRIATION OF DEPOSITS

- (a) If an accountholder pays only part of any municipal account due, the municipal manager shall allocate such payment as follows:
 - to all unpaid charges levied by the municipality in respect of unacceptable cheques, notices, legal expenses and reconnections or reinstatements of services in respect of the account or property concerned;
- (b) This sequence of allocation shall be followed notwithstanding any instructions to the contrary given by the accountholder.
- (c) In the event of an accountholder's defaulting on the payment of an arrear account, as contemplated in Section 13, 15 and 16 above, the municipal manager shall forthwith appropriate as much of such deposit as is necessary to defray any costs incurred by the municipality and the arrear amount owing to the municipality in the same sequence that is applicable to the allocation of part payments, as contemplated above.

SECTION 21: QUERIES BY ACCOUNTHOLDERS

- (a) In the event of an accountholder in the view of the municipal manager reasonably querying any item or items on the monthly municipal account, no action shall be taken against the accountholder as contemplated in Section 10 above, provided
 - the accountholder has paid by due date an amount equal to the monthly average monetary value of the three most recent unqueried accounts in respect of the service under query,
 - (ii) all unqueried balances on such account, and
 - (iii) such query is made in writing by the accountholder or is recorded in writing by the municipal manager on behalf of the accountholder on or before the due date for the payment of the relevant account
- (b) Any query raised by an accountholder in the circumstances contemplated in Section 22 below shall not constitute a reasonable query for the purposes of the sub-section (a) above.

SECTION 22: INABILITY TO READ METERS

- (a) If the municipality is unable to read any meter on any property because the meter has been rendered inaccessible through any act or omission of the accountholder or owner of the property concerned, the municipal manager do not estimate the consumption.
- (b) The accountholder shall be liable for the initial payment of such surcharge(s) as though the surcharge were part of the service charge concerned, but the municipal manager shall reverse such surcharge(s) against the first account for which a meter reading is again obtained.

SECTION 23: INTEREST ON ARREARS AND OTHER PENALTY CHARGES

- (a) Interest shall be charged for a full month on all arrear amounts at the percentage determined by Council irrespective of when payment is made.
- (b) If the municipality uses more than one banking institution it shall for purposes of determining the interest on arrear accounts apply the overdraft rate offered by the institution with which its primary bank account is placed.
- (c) Interest shall be calculated on a daily basis. For purposes of determining arrear amounts, all amounts unpaid including interest previously raised and penalty charges, but excluding value added tax, shall be taken into account.
- (d) In considering each annual budget the council shall review the adequacy of its interest charges, and shall determine the following for the financial year concerned:
 - (i) charges for disconnection or restriction of services (Section 10)
 - (ii) charges for reconnection or reinstatement of services (Section 11)
 - (iii) charges for notices of default (Section 10)
 - (iv) penalty charges for illegal reconnections (Section 13)
 - (v) (Section 22).

SECTION 24: INDIGENCY MANAGEMENT

In regard to the payments expected from registered indigents, and the credit control and debt collection actions contemplated in respect of such residents, this part of the by-laws must be read in conjunction with the policies on indigency management.

SECTION 25: ARREARS WHICH HAVE ARISEN PRIOR TO THE ADOPTION OF THE PRESENT POLICY

- (a) The council shall separately consider arrears which arose prior to the adoption of the present by-laws, and shall advise accountholders of their respective obligations in regard to such arrears.
- (b) In determining such obligations, the council shall have regard to the quantum of such arrears, to the period over which the default occurred, and to whether the accountholder concerned has registered as an indigent in terms of the municipality's by-laws on indigency management.
- (c) The council shall further consider an incentive scheme to encourage accountholders to settle all or a stated percentage of these arrears.

PART IV: INDIGENCY MANAGEMENT

SECTION 26: OBJECTIVE

(a) Because of the level of unemployment and subsequent poverty in the municipal area, there are households which are unable to pay for normal municipal services. The municipality therefore adopts its indigency management policy and attendant by-laws to ensure that these households have access to at least basic municipal services, and is guided in the formulation of this policy and by-laws by the national government's policy in this regard.

SECTION 27: WHO QUALIFIES FOR INDIGENT SUPPORT

- (a) Households where verified total gross monthly income of all occupants over 18 years of age does not exceed the total of two government old age pensions or such other amount as the council may from time to time determine, qualify for a subsidy on service charges for refuse removal and 50 kWh of electricity per month free of charge.
- (b) Only households where the accountholder or property owner has registered as indigent in terms of the municipality's annual registration programme, and whose registration has been accepted and entered into the register of indigents shall qualify for the above relief.
- (c) For a household to qualify for a rebate on rates, the registered indigent must be both the owner and fulltime occupant of the property concerned, and may not own any other property, whether in or out of the municipal area.
- (d) Indigency relief shall apply for a period not extending beyond the financial year in which the particular household is registered as indigent, registration must be renewed in each registration programme if relief is to continue.
- (e) To register as an indigent, the relevant property owner or accountholder must personally complete and sign the registration form provided by the municipality for this purpose, and furnish such further documentation as the municipality specifies.
- (f) The municipal manager will provide assistance to persons who cannot read or write, at such times and places as are specified in the notices published to indicate that the registration programme is to take place.
- (g) Registration will take place on dates and at times and places determined by the council, but shall generally be undertaken during January and/or February each year.

SECTION 28: APPLICATION OF THE POLICY

- (a) The subsidies on rates and the specified service charges will be determined as part of each annual budget and in terms of the municipality's policies on property rates and tariffs.
- (b) In respect of electricity, a 100% subsidy up to 50 kWh per household per month will apply; however, if consumption exceeds 50 kWh per metering period (month), the consumer will be charged at normal tariffs for actual consumption on the quantity exceeding 50 kWh.

SECTION 29: NON-COMPLIANCE OF HOUSEHOLDS REGISTERED AS INDIGENT

- (a) When a property owner or accountholder who has registered as an indigent fails to comply with any arrangements or conditions which are in the view of the municipal manager materially relevant to the receipt of indigency relief, such person will forfeit his or her status as a registered indigent with immediate effect, and will thereafter be treated as an ordinary residential property owner or accountholder for the financial year concerned.
- (b) The onus is on each registered indigent to advise the municipal manager of such failure to comply.
 - (i) if any household in receipt of indigency relief falls into arrears in respect of any amounts due by it to the municipality, the property owner or accountholder concerned must make immediate arrangements with the municipal manager to pay off these arrears owing within a reasonable time determined by the municipal manager in terms of the municipality's credit control and debt collection by-laws.
 - (ii) If these arrangements are not made, no subsidies will be paid or free services provided, and services may be terminated in terms of the municipality's credit control and debt collection by-laws.
- (c) The relief to indigents may be withdrawn at the discretion of the municipal manager if:
 - (i) a registered indigent who qualifies for such relief fails to keep to the terms of the policy agreement; or
 - (ii) any tampering with the installations of the municipality is detected.
 - (iii) If a registered indigent is found to have provided fraudulent information to the municipality in regard to any material condition for registration as an indigent, such person shall immediately be removed from the register of indigents, and shall be liable to repay to the municipality with immediate effect all indigency relief received from the date of such fraudulent registration.
 - (iv) Moreover, such person may not again be considered for indigency relief for a period extending for 5 (five) years beyond the financial year in which the misdemeanour is detected
- (d) Indigency relief will not apply in respect of property owners owning more than one property, whether in or outside the municipal area.

SECTION 30: TAMPERING OF METERS

(a) Objective

- (i) Section 97(1) (h) of the Act stipulates that a municipality's Credit Control and Debt Collection Policy must provide for matters relating to unauthorized consumption of services, theft and damages.
- (ii) The objective of this Policy is to provide in this policy an extension of Credit Control and Debt Collection Policy for the matters referred to in that section.

(b) Unauthorized use of property of the Council

- (i) No one may tamper with any municipal equipment or property.
- (ii) An authorized officer must inspect the equipment and property of the municipality when he or she suspects:
 - (1) that any illegal connections were attached to such equipment or property, or
 - (2) that any unauthorized consumption or use of services is taking place, or
 - (3) any theft of such equipment on property, or
 - (4) any damage to such equipment on property.

(c) Municipality's right of access to premises

(i) In terms of section 101 of the Act the occupier of premises in a municipality must give an authorized officer access at all reasonable hours to the premises in order to read, inspect, repair, any meter or service connection for reticulation, or to stop or restrict the provision of any service.

(d) Power to restrict or terminate supply of services

- (i) Where the municipality has suffered any loss or damage as a result of any act contemplated in paragraph 4, a penalty approved by Council for damages or loss must be imposed on the owner /occupier of the premises concerned.
- (ii) The owner/occupier must be notified of the amount of damage or loss by means of a notice which is hand delivered to the latest recorded address of the owner/occupier, and such notice must also stipulate the date on or before such amount must be paid to the municipality.
- (iii) The Council shall reconnect or restore full levels of supply of any of the restricted or discontinued municipal services only after the reconnection fee and the full amount of the penalty, including the costs of such disconnection and reconnection, if any, have been paid in full. An agreement must be made to the owner/occupier for a monthly payment on the outstanding debt.

(e) Illegal reconnections and/or tampering

- (i) The Accounting Officer shall, as soon as it comes to the notice of the Accounting Officer that any terminated or restricted service has been irregularly reconnected or reinstated, instate one, some or all the following enforcement actions:
 - (1) Disconnect or restrict such service(s),
 - (2) Permanently remove such service(s),
 - (3) Require pre payment technology to be installed,
 - (4) Not reinstate such service(s) until the arrear account, including the interest raised on such amount, the charges for both the original and subsequent reconnection or reinstatement of the service(s) and the revised deposit and penalty have been paid in full,
 - (5) Laying criminal charges with the police,
 - (6) Cancel the contract.

(f) Visiting Indigent Households

(i) All indigent households shall be visited by a person or firm delegated by council on a regular basis to investigate tampering and illegal connection cases and or to inspect the status of meter connections and restrictions and/or flow limiters.

PART V: APPLICATION, IMPLEMENTATION AND REVIEW OF THE BY-LAW

- (a) The Municipal Council reserves the right to differentiate between different categories of Customers, debtors, services or service standards when applying this by-law. The Municipal Council will on application of the revenue by-law avoid discrimination as forbidden by the Constitution unless it is established that the discrimination is fair as allowed by the Constitution.
- (b) The Chief Financial Officer is the custodian of the Revenue By-law and responsible for implementation and review of the by-law.
- (c) In terms of section 17(1)(e) of the Municipal Finance Management Act no. 56 of 2003, this bylaw must be reviewed on an annual basis and the reviewed by-law must be tabled to the Municipal Council for approval.

PART VI: COMPETENCE AND CAPABILITY TO IMPLEMENT THE BY-LAW

- (a) The by-law should be available and communicated to all staff and residence.
- (b) All staff must be aware of the prescriptions of the by-law.
- (c) All staff must be aware of the procedures contained in this bay-law.
- (d) Supervisors/Managers must ensure compliance with this policy

ADOPTED BY RESOLUTION OF THE MUNICIPAL COUNCIL OF WALTER SISULU LOCAL;